II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal involves an interpretation of W. Va. Code § 11A-3-22, which governs the notice requirements to be given to a former landowner pursuant to a tax sale of the landowner's property.

Patrick E. Nield, John B. Lusk, and Ronald E. Nield, individuals, were the original defendants herein (the "Individual Appellants"). On November 15, 1999, appellants Patrick E. Nield and Ronald E. Nield attended a tax sale at the Preston County Courthouse where tax liens of delinquent landowners were being auctioned. See Defendants' and Third Party Plaintiff's Pretrial Memorandum, at *1. At that sale, Patrick Nield successfully bid on and paid the 1998 and 1999 delinquent taxes plus excess for property known as "923 Briery Mountain" (hereinafter, the "Property"). See id. Thereafter, pursuant to an oral agreement, Patrick Nield assigned his rights to Patrick Nield, John Lusk and Ronald Nield. See id. Patrick Nield, John Lusk and Ronald Nield thereafter retained the services of attorney Mr. Neil Reed to ensure that the statutory requirements needed to obtain a tax deed were fulfilled and to prepare the list of interested parties. See id.

By deed dated July 5, 2001, the Individual Appellants conveyed the Property to LN&N Investments, LLC ("LN&N"), a West Virginia limited liability company formed and operated by the Individual Appellants. Plaintiff and Appellee herein amended its original complaint on or about January 30, 2003 to add LN&N as a Defendant in the underlying civil action. See Plaintiff's Motion to Amend Complaint at *2, ¶3. LN&N and the Individual Appellants constitute the Appellants in this Petition for Appeal and shall hereinafter be referred to collectively as "Appellants."

Mr. Neil Reed completed a search of the Preston County Courthouse record room in an attempt to satisfy the requirements of Chapter 11A of the W. Va. Code and to prepare a list of interested persons to be notified of the right to redeem the Property. See Defendants' and Third Party Plaintiff's Pretrial Memorandum, at *2. An application for a tax deed, along with a list of interested persons, was prepared and signed by Mr. Reed and forwarded to Patrick Nield for his initials. See id.

Patrick Nield stated during his deposition that when he received the application for tax deed and list of interested parties from Mr. Reed, he became aware that the address listed for Subcarrier on the list of interested persons was the same address listed on the tax tickets mailed to Subcarrier by the Sheriff. See id. Thereafter, Patrick Nield called the West Virginia Secretary of State to inquire of any other addresses for Subcarrier, and was told that no other addresses were available for Subcarrier. See id.

Following the conversation with the Secretary of State, Patrick Nield called Mr. Reed to inform him of his conversation with the Secretary of State and to ask him whether further action was necessary, whereupon, Mr. Reed advised Patrick Nield that he would "take care of things from there." See id.

Thereafter, Mr. Reed took the application and list of interested persons as completed, prepared and signed by him and properly filed the same with the Clerk of the County Commission of Preston County (the "Clerk"), who sent notices by certified mail to all persons identified on the list as prepared by Mr. Reed. See Defendants' and Third Party Plaintiff's Pretrial Memorandum, at *2.

The statutorily required notice was sent to Subcarrier at its last known address and the notice of the delinquent tax was published on more than five (5) separate occasions. See Reed Deposition, 85:5-21. On each occasion where notice of delinquency or notice of right to redeem was published, the legal advertisement ran for three (3) consecutive weeks in the county paper. See id.

When the Property was not redeemed, the Clerk issued a proper tax deed to Appellants Ronald Nield, Patrick Nield and John Lusk in April of 2001, as evidenced in Preston County Courthouse, Deed Book 624, Page 193. See id.

In July of 2002, Subcarrier, after Appellants informed Appellee that property taxes on the Property had not been paid in West Virginia since June 1998, initiated the instant action to set aside the tax deed issued to the Individual Appellants in April of 2001. See id. at *3.

In the Amended Complaint, Subcarrier alleged that they contacted the Preston County Sheriff, by letter dated June 17, 1998, with an updated address along with a check for the 1997 taxes. See id. at *3. Subcarrier also alleged that it sent a previous unsigned letter on November 25, 1997, when it moved its principal office from the 101 Eisenhower Parkway, Roseland, New Jersey (the "Roseland Address") to 139 White Oak Lane, Old Bridge, New Jersey, ("the Old Bridge Address"). See id. at *3.

During his deposition, Mr. Paleski, President of Subcarrier, stated that a telephone conversation took place in July of 1998 between himself and an employee of the Sheriff's tax office wherein allegedly, the county employee told Mr. Paleski that the address change was or would be "taken care of." See id. at *3.

The record does not reflect any other action taken by Appellee to pay the subject taxes or to update its address until after delivery of the tax deed in April of 2001.

III. RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On or about July 29, 2002, Subcarrier Communications, Inc, Plaintiff below and Appellee herein ("Appellee") filed its complaint with the Circuit Court of Preston County, seeking, among other things, to set aside, pursuant to West Virginia Code §§11A-4-3 and 11A-4-4, the tax deed dated April 12, 2001, by Nancy Reckart, Clerk of the County Commission of Preston County to the Individual Appellants conveying the Property to the Individual Appellants. See Complaint at *6, Count I.

Appellants filed an answer and counterclaim to the complaint on September 3, 2002. See Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment at *7, ¶26. On or about February 7, 2003, Appellee filed its Amended Complaint, seeking to add Appellant LN&N Investments, LLC, a West Virginia limited liability company formed and owned by the Individual Appellants, ("LN&N"), as a defendant in the underlying action and party in interest in the litigation because the Individual Appellants conveyed the Property to LN&N by deed dated July 5, 2001. See id. On March 3, 2003, Appellants filed an answer to the amended complaint and filed a counterclaim seeking recovery of damages equal to the amount of income Appellee received pursuant to contracts between Appellee and third parties for the use of the tower installed on the Property. See id.

The Court previously denied Subcarrier's Motion for Summary Judgment heard on July 7, 2003 because discovery had not yet been concluded. See id., at *10, ¶7. However, Subcarrier filed Plaintiff's Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment on or about July 26, 2004. On October 25,

2004, the Circuit Court of Preston County issued its Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, (the "Order"), herein being appealed.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In Stewart v. George, 607 S.E.2d 394, 2004 W. Va. LEXIS 157, at *7 (November 15, 2004), the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals recently reiterated its standard of review for appeals of summary judgment granted by a circuit court, stating that:

The standard of review for summary judgment granted by the lower court has been established as follows in syllabus point one of Mountain Lodge Association v. Crum & Forster Indemnity Co., 210 W. Va. 536, 558 S.E.2d 336 (2001): 'A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo.' Syl. Pt. 1, Painter v. Peavy, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). In syllabus point three of Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Federal Insurance Company of New York, 148 W. Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963), this Court explained: "A motion for summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law." Further, in syllabus point two of Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W. Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995), this Court stated: "Summary judgment is appropriate if, from the totality of the evidence presented, the record could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove." As required of the lower court, this Court must also "draw any permissible inference from the underlying facts in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion." Painter, 192 W. Va. at 192, 451 S.E.2d at 758.

Stewart, 607 S.E.2d 394, 2004 W. Va. LEXIS 157, at *7.

In this appeal, Appellants seek a reversal of the Order because Subcarrier failed to prove the Appellants did not exercise due diligence in locating Subcarrier's address and because the Circuit Court failed to draw any permissible inference from the underlying facts in the light most

favorable to Appellants. Therefore, this Court should reverse and vacate the Circuit Court's Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment.

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS²

1. Subcarrier failed to pay West Virginia tax on the Property for four years (1998, 1999, 2000, and 2001) although it knew property in West Virginia was subject to real property taxes.
2. Patrick Nield and his father, Ronald Nield attended the tax sale in Preston County on November 15, 1999, where Patrick Nield purchased the tax lien on the Property as the taxes were delinquent.
3. Patrick Nield hired attorney Neil Reed to complete the statutory requirements necessary for receipt of a tax deed and to prepare the list of interested persons entitled to notice of the right to redeem the Property.
4. Patrick Nield assigned his rights in said tax lien to Ronald Nield, John Lusk and Patrick Nield on April 27, 2001.
5. Attorney Neil Reed completed a thorough search of the public records as were reasonably ascertainable from the Preston County Courthouse records in order to complete the list of interested persons.

² These facts were obtained from the Stipulated Facts filed pursuant to Defendants' and Third Party Plaintiffs' Pretrial Memorandum filed with the Circuit Court of Preston County on or about August 4, 2004.

6. The only address reasonably ascertainable in the public records of the Preston County Courthouse for Subcarrier was the same address listed on the tax tickets sent by the Sheriff and the same address was used to prepare the list of interested persons submitted by Mr. Reed to the Clerk of the County Commission.

7. Patrick Nield contacted the West Virginia Secretary of State's office to determine if another address was available for Subcarrier.

8. Subcarrier failed to register with the West Virginia Secretary of State's office until July of 2002, even though it had been transacting business in West Virginia since 1996.

9. Prior to May of 2001, Subcarrier paid no personal property taxes to the Preston County Assessor on the tower located on the Property, nor did it pay personal property tax on other property located on the site.

10. The Property is located off of Route 7, and the only road by which to access the Property is blocked by a locked gate.

11. During the years 1999, 2000 and 2001, Subcarrier had no sign indicating the name, address or phone number posted on the gate to the Property.

VI. POINTS AND LEGAL AUTHORITIES

Cases

<u>Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Federal Insurance Company of New York,</u> 148 W. Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963).....	6
<u>Citizens National Bank of St. Albans v. Dunnaway,</u> 184 W. Va. 453, 458, 400 S.E.2d 888, 893 (1990).....	22

<u>Cook v. Duncan,</u> 171 W. Va. 747, 301 S.E.2d 93 (1983).....	16
<u>Hock v. City of Morgantown,</u> 162 W. Va. 853, 253 S.E.2d 386 (1979).....	22
<u>Lilly v. Duke,</u> 180 W. Va. 228, 376 S.E.2d 122 (1988).....	16, 21-22
<u>Mennonite Board of Missions v. Adams,</u> 462 U.S. 791 (1983).....	22
<u>Mingo County Revelopment Authority v. Green,</u> 207 W. Va. 486, 534 S.E.2d 40 (2000).....	23
<u>Mountain Lodge Association v. Crum & Forster Indemnity Co.,</u> 210 W. Va. 536, 558 S.E.2d 336 (2001).....	6
<u>Painter v. Peavy,</u> 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994).....	6
<u>Plemons v. Gale,</u> 298 F.Supp. 2d 380 (S.D. W. Va 2004).....	16, 18
<u>Plemons v. Gale,</u> 2005 U.S. App. LEXIS 1734 (4th Cir. February 3, 2005)	16, 18, 19
<u>Stewart v. George,</u> 2004 W. Va. LEXIS 157, 607 S.E.2d 394 (November 15, 2004).....	6
<u>Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc.,</u> 194 W. Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995).....	6
West Virginia Code §11A-2-1	11
West Virginia Code §11A-2-10a	11
West Virginia Code §11A-2-11	11
West Virginia Code §11A-2-13	11
West Virginia Code §11A-3-1	23
West Virginia Code §11A-3-2	11
West Virginia Code §11A-3-8	20

West Virginia Code §11A-3-13	12
West Virginia Code §11A-3-19	12, 13, 14, 22
West Virginia Code §11A-3-21	15
West Virginia Code §11A-3-22	11, 15
West Virginia Code §11A-3-30	20
West Virginia Code §11A-3-62	20
West Virginia Code §11A-4-4	16
West Virginia Code §31D-15-1501	18
West Virginia Code §31D-15-1503	18
West Virginia Code §55-2-1	20

VII. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED, AS A MATTER OF LAW, IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF SUBCARRIER.

VIII. DISCUSSION OF LAW

THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED, AS A MATTER OF LAW, IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF SUBCARRIER BECAUSE SUBCARRIER WAS NOT ENTITLED TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW, INASMUCH AS APPELLANTS FULLY AND FAITHFULLY COMPLIED WITH W. VA. CODE §11A-3-19, WHICH GOVERNS WHAT A PURCHASER MUST DO BEFORE HE OR SHE MAY SECURE A DEED AND §11A-3-22, WHICH GOVERNS NOTICE REQUIREMENTS FOR SERVICE OF NOTICE AND INASMUCH AS SUBCARRIER FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT APPELLANTS FAILED TO EXERCISE REASONABLY DILIGENT EFFORTS TO PROVIDE NOTICE TO SUBCARRIER OF THEIR INTENT TO ACQUIRE A TAX DEED TO THE PROPERTY.

The sole issue in this case is whether the Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Subcarrier because Appellants failed to make a reasonable inquiry that could and would have revealed the correct mailing address for the notice requirements set forth in W. Va. Code §11A-3-22.

That Subcarrier failed to pay the assessed property taxes on the Property from 1998 until May of 2001, inclusive, is not in dispute. See Defendants' Response to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment dated July 7, 2003, at *1, ¶3. ("Defendant's Response").

The subject property taxes were debts owing by Appellee for which Appellee was personally liable. See W. Va. Code §11A-2-2. Once property taxes become delinquent, the sheriff of the county in which the property is situate has a duty to enforce payment of such delinquent taxes. See W. Va. Code § 11A-2-1. In the case at hand, the Sheriff of Preston County (the "Sheriff") prepared and published a notice, pursuant to W. Va. Code §11A-2-10a, stating that the taxes assessed for the previous year were delinquent. See Defendant's Response, at *2, ¶10.

Pursuant to W. Va. Code §11A-2-11, the Sheriff prepared a list of all property, including the Property, for which property taxes were delinquent. See Defendant's Response at *2, ¶11. Then, the Sheriff published and posted the delinquent tax list pursuant to W. Va. Code §11A-2-13. See id. At least thirty (30) days prior to the date of the auction of the Property, the Sheriff again published the delinquent list in a paper of general circulation in the county in which the property is situate pursuant to W. Va. Code §11A-3-2. See Defendant's Response at *2, ¶13.

Only after the Sheriff complied with the proper statutory requirements did the Sheriff sell the tax lien on the Property on November 15, 1999. See Exhibit 3 to Deposition of Neil A. Reed Esquire dated March 4, 2003 ("Reed Deposition"); Deposition of Patrick Nield, 23:23-24, 24:1-3 ("Nield Deposition"). After sale of the tax lien on the Property, the Sheriff again published, pursuant to W. Va. Code §11A-3-13, a notice of Subcarrier's right to redeem the Property. See Defendant's Response at *2-3, ¶16. At the sale of the tax lien on Property, Mr. Patrick Nield paid the delinquent taxes and received a certificate of sale from the Sheriff. See Exhibit 3 to Reed Deposition.

West Virginia Code §11A-3-19 sets for the statutory requirements for what a purchaser must do before he or she may secure a deed. Specifically, that statutory section provides that the purchaser shall:

- (1) Prepare a list of those to be served with notice to redeem and request the clerk to prepare and serve the notice as provided in sections twenty-one and twenty-two [§§ 11A-3-21 and 11A-3-22] of this article;
- (2) provide the clerk with a list of any additional expenses incurred after the first day of January of the year following the sheriff's sale for the preparation of the list of those to be served with notice to redeem including proof of the additional expenses in the form of receipts or other evidence of reasonable legal expenses incurred for the services of any attorney who has performed an examination of the title to the real estate and rendered a written opinion and certification thereon;
- (3) deposit, or offer to deposit, with the clerk a sum sufficient to cover the costs of preparing and serving the notice; and
- (4) present the purchaser's certificate of sale, or order of the county commission where the certificate has been lost or wrongfully withheld from the owner, to the clerk of the county commission. For failure to meet these requirements, the purchaser shall lose all the benefits of his or her purchase. Id.

After purchasing the Property, Patrick Nield went to the record room of Preston County in order to obtain a more detailed description of the Property. See Nield Deposition, at 35:24, 36:1-3, 21-24, 37:1-3, 18-24, 38:1-4). While there, Patrick Nield obtained a copy of the deed

whereby the Property was conveyed to Subcarrier and learned that a microwave tower was located on the Property. See id.

Additionally, Mr. Patrick Nield then retained Neil Reed, an experienced, licensed and practicing real estate attorney in Preston County, West Virginia, in order to seek legal advice, do a title search, find interested parties for the statutorily required list, and to generally ensure that Patrick Nield complied with the relevant statutes so that he could obtain legal title to the Property if Subcarrier did not exercise its statutory right of redemption. See Nield Deposition, 44:13-21; Reed Deposition, 85:5-21.

Further, Patrick Nield phoned the West Virginia Secretary of State's office to inquire about Subcarrier's business and to obtain a proper address in order to contact Subcarrier, whereupon, the Secretary of State informed Mr. Nield that Subcarrier's records had elapsed and that the last address for Subcarrier in the Secretary of State's office was the Roseland Address. See Nield Deposition, 57:6-22, 60:12-19.

In order to faithfully comply with the terms of W. Va. Code §11A-3-19, attorney Neil Reed first went to the Preston County record room and examined the particular land book for the Property for each of 2000, 1999, and 1998. See Reed Deposition, at 29:1-7. He then went to the Sheriff's office to determine if the taxes were paid for the years in question and compare the address of the present owner to the tax ticket and against the computer in the record room. See Reed Deposition, 29:8-14. After making such a comparison, attorney Neil Reed noted that the current address for Subcarrier was the Roseland Address. See Reed Deposition, 29:15-18.

Mr. Reed then went back to the Preston County record room to look for a deed under Subcarrier. See Reed Deposition, 29:19-20. Mr. Reed performed a title search on the Property dating back to 1962, and found that Subcarrier had acquired the Property in 1996 from Skyline Communications, that Skyline Communications ("Skyline") had acquired the Property from Specialty Antenna Site Resources in 1992 and that Specialty Antenna Site Resources had acquired the Property from Western Union Corporation. See Reed Deposition, 34-37.

In performing his title examination, Mr. Reed also searched for deeds of trust, judgments, tax liens and any and all other liens that may have been recorded against the Property, and found a deed of trust, naming Patrick D. Deem and Evans L. King as trustees, that Skyline placed on the Property which was not released when the Property was transferred to Subcarrier. See Reed Deposition, 34-38.

In addition to Patrick D. Deem and Evans L. King, Mr. Reed found other persons named in the deed of trust who were included in the list of interested persons given to the Clerk to be served with notice, to-wit: Michael Mannix, Michael R. Budager, and Jonathan W. Old, II. See Reed Deposition, 35:6-24, 36:1-14.

All names found by Mr. Reed during his reasonable and diligent search of the public records for interested parties were on the list that was prepared and given to the Clerk pursuant to and in compliance with W. Va. Code §11A-3-19(a). See Exhibit 3 to Reed Deposition.

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