IN THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

Subcarrier Communications, Inc.,
a New Jersey corporation,

Plaintiff/Appellee,

v.

Case No. 32752
From the Circuit Court of Preston
County, West Virginia.
Civil Action No: 02-C-146

Other Authorities

Alexander, *Tax Liens, Tax Sales, and Due Process*, 75 Ind. Law. J 747. 12

VI. DISCUSSION OF LAW

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In *Mountain Lodge Associates v. Crum & Forster indemnity Co.*, 558 S.E.2d 336 (W.Va. 2001) the West Virginia Supreme Court reiterated that it applies a *de novo* standard of review of an award of summary judgment by a circuit court. This Court has also held that summary judgment is appropriate “where the record taken as a whole could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove.” *Painter v. Peavy*, 451 S.E.2d 755 (W.Va. 1994). Applying these standards to the facts presented in this action, it is clear that the Circuit Court correctly granted Appellee's Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment.

B. WEST VIRGINIA LAW REQUIRES THAT THE OWNER OF THE DELINQUENT REAL ESTATE RECEIVE ACTUAL NOTICE OF ITS RIGHT TO REDEEM SUCH PROPERTY

Appellants' sole contention on appeal is that Appellants made a sufficient inquiry to locate a current mailing address for Subcarrier to satisfy state and federal due process requirements in their efforts to acquire a tax deed for the subject realty. As such, Appellants contend that the Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Subcarrier. A review of pertinent West Virginia and federal law indicates that Appellants' contention must be rejected.⁶

In *Lilly v. Duke*, 376 S.E.2d 122 (W.Va. 1988), the West Virginia Supreme Court considered what notice was required to be given prior to a sheriff's sale of real property for

⁶ An exhaustive history of West Virginia statutory and case law concerning delinquent real estate tax sales is contained in the report of Appellee's expert, Robert Shuman, Esq. and appearing at Appellate Record, Vol. 1 p. 220.

delinquent taxes pursuant to West Virginia Code §11 A-3-1 *et seq.* In *Lilly*, plaintiff sold a parcel of realty located in Jackson County to Taylor. Plaintiff apparently provided financing for the transaction. Taylor executed a mortgage in favor of plaintiff which was secured by a deed of trust on the Jackson County property. Taylor failed to make the property tax payments on the property and, as a result, and unbeknownst to plaintiff, the property was sold for taxes. Plaintiff brought an action seeking to set aside the tax deed concerning the realty.

Plaintiff argued that he had not received notice of the tax delinquency or the notice advising that the property would be sold at public auction. The Jackson County Sheriff attempted to give notice of the tax delinquency by posting and, as in the present case, by publication in the local newspaper.

After surveying the decisions of the United States Supreme Court in *Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank and Trust Company*, 339 US 306 (1950) and *Mennonite Board of Missions v. Adams*, 462 US 791 (1983)⁷, the West Virginia Supreme Court held:

There are certain constitutional due process requirements for notice of a tax sale of real property. Where a party having an interest in the property can reasonably be identified from public records **or otherwise**, due process requires that such party be provided notice **by mail or other means as certain to ensure actual notice.** (emphasis added)

Lilly, supra, syl. pt. 1. This Court concluded that in light of this standard, the sheriff's attempts to give notice by posting and publication were constitutionally insufficient. This Court noted that the record supported the conclusion that the address of the plaintiff mortgagee was reasonably ascertainable by the sheriff, stating:

In the present case, we believe the Plaintiff's name and address were reasonably ascertainable. While the address did not appear on the face of the deed of trust, a handwritten notation in the margin thereof did provide an address. Furthermore,

⁷. A comprehensive history of the evolution of constitutional requirements of notice and due process in the context of sale of tax liens and acquisition of tax deeds is contained in Alexander, *Tax Liens, Tax Sales, and Due Process*, 75 Ind. Law. J 747.

other identifying information was reasonably available. The deed of trust specifically named Walton S. Shepherd, III, a resident of Kanawha County, as trustee and notice could have been mailed to him in that capacity. The deed of trust also stated that note payments were to be remitted to the Bank of Sissonville, which was the collection agent for the Plaintiff. A simple inquiry at that bank presumably would have provided the necessary address.

376 S.E.2d at 125-26. Thus, *Lilly* requires that in order to discharge the duty to provide notice and a right to redeem property to a delinquent landowner or other interested party, a party required to give such notice may be required to make inquiry of persons identified in public records and access sources of information not contained in public land records to ascertain the whereabouts of parties entitled to receive notice of a right to redeem the delinquent property. *Lilly* indicates that such methods of inquiry include the placing of phone calls to persons or businesses located in counties other than the county in which the real estate is located to attempt to ascertain a correct mailing address for the landowner. There is nothing contained in the holding in *Lilly* indicating that such inquiries must stop at the West Virginia border as Appellants apparently contend.

B. APPELLANT PATRICK NIELD, AND HIS AGENT NEIL REED, FAILED TO MAKE A SUFFICIENT INQUIRY TO DETERMINE A CURRENT MAILING ADDRESS FOR SUBCARRIER FOR PURPOSES OF PROVIDING SUBCARRIER WITH ACTUAL NOTICE OF ITS RIGHT TO REDEEM THE SUBJECT REALTY

The record unequivocally established that Appellant Patrick Neild and his counsel, Neil Reed, made no attempt to locate a viable, current mailing address for Subcarrier. Instead, Neild and Reed knowingly provided the Preston County Clerk with an outdated address for purposes of attempting to provide Subcarrier with notice of its right to redeem as required by West Virginia law. See Appellee's Statement of Facts, pp. 7-9, *supra*. Despite this knowledge, and despite knowing that all previous notices to Subcarrier sent by mail to the address Reed proposed to use had been returned as undeliverable, Reed made no effort to acquire a current

address for Subcarrier. As Patrick Nield had anticipated, the attempt to give notice to Subcarrier regarding appellant's request for issuance of the tax deed in November of 2000 at Subcarrier's former Roseland address was unsuccessful and the notice was returned as undeliverable.

The vast majority of jurisdictions addressing the issue have held that where notice of a tax delinquency or right to redeem delinquent property sent by mail is returned as undeliverable, the party obligated to provide notice must undertake additional efforts to ascertain the present whereabouts of the delinquent landowner entitled to notice to the pending tax sale. Alexander, *Tax Liens, Tax Sales, and Due Process*, 75 Ind. Law. J. 747, 793. In *Plemons v. Gall*, 298 F. Supp. 380, (USDC, SD W.Va.) the United States District Court for the Southern District West Virginia discussed the obligations of a party seeking issuance of a tax deed under West Virginia law to give actual notice to a delinquent landowner of his right to redeem the subject property where notice sent to the delinquent landowner by mail is returned as undelivered. On August 9, 1999, plaintiff Plemons purchased real estate located at 913 Echo Road, South Charleston, West Virginia. On February 17, 2000, Plemons refinanced the property through Capital State Bank. Plemons believed that the real estate taxes on the property would be paid by Capital through an escrow account. However, Capital did not make the real estate tax payments and the taxes therefore became delinquent. On November 13, 2000, the Kanawha County Sheriff sold the tax lien on the property to defendant Advantage.

Advantage caused a title examination to be conducted concerning the property to identify those parties having an interest in the property and who were entitled to notice of a right to redeem the property under West Virginia law. Three addresses were identified for

Plemons. Advantage then prepared a notice to redeem identifying the persons Advantage believed were entitled to notice and provided the same to the County Clerk. Plemons was not residing on the subject property at the time the notices were sent, but rather resided at 405 Quarry Point, Charlestown West Virginia, an address that had not been identified by Advantage. As a result, all notices sent via certified mail by the County Clerk to Plemons were returned as undeliverable.

Given that all notices to Plemons sent by certified mail had been returned, Advantage caused a notice to redeem to be published in the local Charleston newspapers. When no party redeemed the property within the time provided in the notice, the Court issued a tax deed to Advantage. Advantage in turn conveyed the property to defendant Gale.

In granting Plemons' motion for summary judgment, the District Court found that the record established that Advantage failed to exercise reasonably diligent efforts to provide notice to Plemons of her right to redeem the property. Citing the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Mullane*, the District Court noted that due process requires that "the means employed [to provide notice to interested parties] must be such as one desirous of actually informing the absentee might reasonably adopt to accomplish it" *Mullane*, 339 U.S. at 315. The District Court went on to note the inherent tension created by West Virginia's statutory scheme of notice in that the tax lien purchaser has the duty to give notice to the delinquent taxpayer of his right to redeem, but also has an interest in profiting from the delinquent taxpayer's failure to redeem the property. In this regard, the Judge Goodwin noted:

[A] tax lien purchaser is unlikely to want a property owner to receive actual notice of her right to redeem as he hopes to make money on his purchase. This circumstance makes it imperative that courts strictly scrutinize efforts of a tax lien purchaser to ensure that they are "such as one desires of actually informing the absentee" might reasonably adopt. (citation omitted)

298 F. Supp. 2d. at 388.

Plemons further noted that

the requirements of due process are not satisfied by the mere act of mailing notice to *any* address....When notices sent via certified mail and returned unclaimed, the sender has positive knowledge that he sent the notice to the wrong address in that the mailing failed to convey actual notice to the intended recipient. If a reasonably diligent party wanted to provide actual notice and learned that the notice sent by mail is returned unclaimed, the party's next logical step would not be to publish a relatively small announcement in the newspaper. Rather, a reasonably diligent party would make further inquiry in hopes of finding the intended recipient's correct address. (emphasis by court, citations omitted)

298 F. Supp. 2d. at 389.

The District Court then discussed what might constitute a reasonable inquiry designed to identify a delinquent landowner's correct address, including contacting other parties, such as mortgagees, who had an interest in the property; contacting the Secretary of State's office to attempt to locate an address for a corporate landowner; visiting the property; and consulting phone directories to identify telephone numbers for the delinquent landowner. The District Court concluded, as a matter of law, that having failed to make such an inquiry, Advantage failed to make the requisite effort to give actual notice to the landowner as required by West Virginia and federal law.

After the entry of summary judgment in favor of Subcarrier by the Circuit Court of Preston County, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals reversed the District Court's granting of summary judgment in *Plemons*. *Plemons v. Gale*, 369 F.3d 569 (4th Cir. 2005). The Fourth Circuit agreed with the Southern District's conclusion that due process requires that a party seeking to acquire real estate pursuant to a tax lien make reasonable efforts to locate delinquent landowner's where notice by mail to the landowner is returned as undeliverable. In this regard, the Fourth Circuit stated:

The question before us is what efforts must be made by a party charged with giving notice of irrevocable loss of property via a tax sale, when it is, or should be, apparent from the initial mailings' prompt return that they have failed to provide any notice to the intended recipient.

Although the Supreme Court has not directly addressed this question, it has provided some guidance in *Covey* and *Robinson*. In *Covey*, 351 U.S. at 146-47, when a town had mailed notice of its intent to foreclose on a tax lien to a person whom the town knew to be mentally incompetent, the Court held that such notice was constitutionally insufficient. Because the town was aware that, as a consequence of the incompetence, the mailing did not actually provide notice, the foreclosure constituted a deprivation of property without due process of law. See also *Robinson*, 409 U.S. at 40 (holding that mailing that the government knew would not accomplish notice was insufficient). These cases, as one state supreme court has noted, "suggest that when the party seeking to affect a property interest is itself on notice of the failure of mailed notice to inform an interested party, the party must take further action to determine a more accurate address or otherwise ensure receipt of meaningful notice." ...Adopting the rule that prompt return of mailed notice triggers a duty to make reasonable follow-up efforts would seem to best comport with the instruction in *Mullane* that due process requires efforts "reasonably calculated" to actually "apprise interested parties" of the possible deprivation; that is, notice consistent with that of "one desirous of actually informing the absentee," rather than efforts that are but a "mere gesture." ...

Most courts have reached precisely this conclusion. In case after case they have held that the reasonable diligence standard requires a party charged with notice to follow up when a mailing has been returned as unclaimed or undeliverable. As the District of Columbia Court of Appeals has remarked, "The return of the certified notice marked 'unclaimed' should have been a red flag for some further action." (Citations omitted).

While the Fourth Circuit agreed with the District Court's assessment of applicable law, the Fourth Circuit nevertheless reversed the District Court's grant of summary judgment and remanded the case for the taking of further evidence. In this regard, the Fourth Circuit found there was no evidence in the record that the methods of acquiring a current mailing address for Plemons suggested by the District Court would have actually yielded an address for Plemons different than that that appeared in county land records. In this regard, the Fourth Circuit stated:

In this case, the district court considered several possible follow-up efforts. Although it initially noted that checking the public records would be reasonable, the court does not seem to have determined if that was done here. Instead, the court pointed to three other methods it believed

Advantage reasonably could have, but did not, pursue to obtain Plemons' address after receiving the returned mailings: consulting the telephone directory, asking the tenants at the Echo Road property, or making inquiries of the mortgagee bank. We do not agree that reasonable follow-up compelled such efforts in this case. Although checking the local telephone directory may be reasonable in a given situation, ... here it would have been an exercise in futility. The record shows that, both at the time the notices were sent out, as well as when they were returned, Plemons was not reachable at the number or address listed in the current directory, and calls to that number were no longer being forwarded to her mobile phone. Moreover, contacting the Echo Road tenants seems an unreasonable burden here. Because it is undisputed that the notice sent to Occupant at the property's mailing address was returned as undeliverable, it was a reasonable assumption that further investigation at that address would be unsuccessful. Nor do reasonable efforts require contacting the mortgagee bank, at least in this case. As the Supreme Court noted in *Mennonite*, a property owner and mortgagee are not in privity, and, under normal circumstances, one cannot be expected to communicate notice of an impending tax sale to the other. There is no evidence that Plemons enjoyed a special relationship with the bank such that attempting to enlist its help would have led to the discovery of her correct location. (Citations omitted)

369 F.3d at 577. Thus, the Fourth Circuit's ruling in *Plemons* does not stand for the proposition, as asserted by Appellants, that persons seeking to acquire delinquent lands at state-sponsored tax sales need look no further than county land records to acquire current mailing addresses for a delinquent landowner.

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